

REVIEW

Alexandria University

Alexandria Engineering Journal

www.elsevier.com/locate/aej www.sciencedirect.com



Heuristic approach for risk assessment modeling: EPCCM application (Engineer Procure Construct Contract Management)

Ali F. Bakr, Khaled El Hagla, Ayda Nayer Abo Rawash*

Department of Architectural Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Alexandria, Egypt

Received 24 June 2012; revised 28 August 2012; accepted 1 September 2012 Available online 9 October 2012



Abbreviation: FIDIC, International Federation of Consulting Engineers; EPC, (Engineer, Procure, Construct) turnkey conditions of contracts, silver book, a standard contract format; RBS, Risk Breakdown Structure; RM, Risk Management; RMP, Risk Management Plan; EPCCM, Engineer, Procure, Construct Contract Management modeling system; PROD, Project Risk Optimized Datum Contract; CCRA, Condition Risk Analysis; RER, Risk Events Report; RRS, Risk Response Summary; RSM, Risk Status Monitoring.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: aidanayer@gmail.com (A.N. Abo Rawash).

Peer review under responsibility of Faculty of Engineering, Alexandria University.



Production and hosting by Elsevier

1110-0168 © 2012 Faculty of Engineering, Alexandria University. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aej.2012.09.001

Contents

1.	Introduction	306
2.	Uncertainty, opportunity and risk	307
3.	The EPC contract environment	307
4.	Holistic definition of risk management evolving techniques	308
5.	General review of the risk assessment modeling	308
6.	EPCCM risk assessment a proactive approach	308
	6.1. Risk as basis for initiating FIDIC contracts	308
	6.2. Risk allocation by contract clauses	309
	6.3. Risk allocation by risk events triggered	310
	6.4. EPCCM risk analytical outputs	311
7.	Potential contract risk analytical description	311
	7.1. EPCCM risk break down structure.	311
	7.2. EPC Contract Risk Management Plan (EPCCM RMP).	311
	7.2.1. Risk identification	311
	7.2.2. Risk response strategy	311
	7.2.3. Risk analysis	311
	7.2.4. Risk monitoring and control	312
8.	EPCCM model description.	312
	8.1. Modeling and quality advantage	312
	8.2. EPCCM standard tools	313
	8.3. Analogy for EPCCM model guidance	315
	8.4. Master data modules	315
9.	Model graph dependencies	316
	9.2. EPCCM internal dependencies.	316
	9.3 EPCCM external dependencies 3	316
10.	Ouality of EPCCM activity diagrams	316
11.	EPCCM package graphical user interface.	318
	11.1. Risk event manager interface	318
	11.2. Case study	318
	11.2.1. Demonstration	318
	11.2.2. Tracking and monitoring	318
	11.2.3. Proactive data handling	321
	11.3. Reports module.	321
	11.3.1 Examples for reports	321
	11.4. Qualitative risk analysis.	321
	11.5. EPCCM system validation and verification	321
12.	Conclusion	321
	References.	322

1. Introduction

In Project Management Risk is considered to be the cumulative effect of the chances of uncertain occurrences adversely affecting project objectives, identifying the degree of exposure to negative events, and their probable consequences impacting on project objectives, as expressed in terms of scope, quality, time and cost.

Some of these factors are inherent to organizations that are solely responsible for managing them, whereas others are closely related to the political, cultural, economic, and operational environments of the project's location. In practice, project participants tend to be indifferent to risks outside of their control or believe that measures such as forms of contracts and insurance adequately allocate risks between the various parties. Furthermore, many owners and contractors are unaware of the full range of these risks, and few have demonstrated the expertise and knowledge to manage them effectively [32].

While Investigating Contract terms we have to take in consideration that uncertainty, opportunity and risk are closely allied, but *lack of knowledge of future events* constitutes *uncertainty*. In this relationship, the probability of those outcomes which are favorable may be viewed as *opportunity*, while the probability of occurrence of those outcomes which are unfavorable represents risk.

Consequently, risk management is a set of techniques for controlling the uncertainty in a project. Depending on the type of disruption occurring to contractual terms in EPC contracts, that concerns both parties employer and contractor [11].

Project managers will recognize the classic systems methodology outlined in previous applications which consist of input, process, output and feedback loop, a basic model which is so vital to the effective control of any project. Yet risk is



Figure 1 The uncertainty/opportunity/risk relationship [34].



Figure 2 The eight key business levers in contract [3].

somehow different, it has to do with uncertainty, probability or unpredictability, and contingent planning.

However, in construction contract environment there is a gap between the existing risk management techniques and their application and use by contractors and owners. Complexity of the situation and the extensive resource commitment necessary to perform good risk management are among the reasons that have been put forward to explain why this is the case, and no easy-to-use management tool is currently available that can identify and assess the risks specific to construction conditions of contracts. As a result, there is a need to develop such a tool, EPCCM (*Engineer Procure Construct Contract Management*) risk model to help owners and contractors improve the performance of turnkey construction projects.

2. Uncertainty, opportunity and risk

In the context of project management *project risk* is defined as follows:

Project risk is the cumulative effect of the chances of uncertain occurrences adversely affecting project objectives. In other words, it is the degree of exposure to negative events, and their probable consequences impacting on project objectives, as expressed in terms of scope, quality, time and cost. The constant goal of project risk management should be to move uncertainty away from risk and towards opportunity.

Consequently, when assessing overall impacts of uncertainty on a project, it is the net project risk which should be determined, i.e., the cumulative net effect of the chances of both adverse and favorable consequences affecting project objectives [34].

The more we get involved in the project we get to scrutinize effects of expected risks forced by contractual implications, the degree of uncertainty and the consequent associated risk.

While the word "risk" means that uncertainty can be expressed through probability, risk management is a structured process for the management of uncertainty through risk assessment.

Risk and opportunity are mirror opposites of each other. Opportunity emerges from favorable project circumstances and risk emerges from unfavorable events (Fig. 1).

Risks encountered throughout project life cycles and impact severity to parties involved have been demonstrated in previous researches, [10,37], the risk factor in construction business is very high. The size and complexity of construction objects are increasing which adds to the risks. This is in addition to the political, economic, social conditions where the object is to be undertaken, including internal and external risks, [36,17]. The availability and productivity of the resources necessary to construct the project are considered as risks which are proper for the contractor to assume [7].

3. The EPC contract environment

FIDIC [38] edition standard form of condition of contract EPC/Turnkey projects, for works designed by the contractor,



Figure 3 Proactive and reactive treatment cycles within RM process [21].



Figure 4 EPCCM main modeling structure, by authors.

the framework consists of two-party arrangement, generally with an Employer's Representative. According to Wang and Chou [33], to make risk management more efficient and effective, all parties must understand risk responsibilities, risk event conditions, risk preference, and risk management capabilities. It can be concluded that the owner has a greater tendency to allocate certain risk to the contractor if the risk is easier to change the probability or effects of its happening. Furthermore, if the probability of a certain risk event condition is uncontrollable, the contractor's tendency of risk handling changes from actively transferring the risk to passively retaining the risk (Fig. 2). On the other hand, if a risk is controllable and certainly allocated to the contractor, the contractor tends to take the initiative to reduce the impact caused by the risk event rather than retain the risk.

Thus, project participants do not have a shared understanding of the risks that threaten a project. Consequently they are unable to implement effective early warning measures and mitigating strategies to adequately deal with project risks [15].

The contract should then go onto consider the obligations and rights of every party. In determining the risk allocation and therefore contract strategy, it is important to apply risk analysis and management techniques to ensure that the worst-case scenario has been anticipated and provision has been made to deal with risk events as and when they occur.

Baloi and Price [1] states that the principal guideline in determining whether a risk should be transferred is whether the receiving party has both the competence to fairly assess the risk and the expertise necessary to control or minimize it.

4. Holistic definition of risk management evolving techniques

According to the established risk management standards [40,41], any risk management typically includes a series of the following tasks: (1) identification, (2) assessment, (3) treatment planning, (4) treatment, (5) monitoring, and (6) documentation as per the following Fig. 3.

Risk treatment followed in this work to be consisted of two parts; proactive and reactive treatment, Fig. 1 shows the two cycles of proactive and reactive risk management. Proactive treatment is the traditional known type within risk management in which only anticipated high probability/impact risks, according to the agreed thresholds, are treated by executing the planned treatment strategies [21].

Several researches highlighted RM processes such as [12,22,35].

5. General review of the risk assessment modeling

Although risk assessment is probably the most difficult component of the risk management process, it is potentially the most useful. A critical review of the literature reviews the existing literature on construction risk modeling and assessment has revealed significant results [28].

Architectural and construction risks, as the means of conceptualizing and modeling domain knowledge, architectural and engineering notions are modeled in the form of concept hierarchies, interrelationships between concepts, and rules that specify the definitions of concepts and relations and constraints on their behavior and interpretation[19].

Risk management in construction is a tedious task as the objective functions tend to change during the object life cycle [4]. Tserng et al. [29] presented a study of ontology based risk management framework of construction projects through project life cycle variance – covariance.

Isaac and Navon [14] described models of building projects as a basis for change control.

Risk management processes of construction project describe the work of all project life cycle. The risk assessment problem is analyzed by many authors [27,36,37,26,24].

Other works proposed risk performance index to improve the efficiency of general performance measurement for mega projects by extending the existing cost/schedule based performance of projects [25].

Proper risk allocation in construction contracts has come to assume prominence because risk identification and risk allocation have a clear bearing on risk handling decisions [20].

Hassanein and Afify [13] analyzed risk identification procedure for construction contracts. El-Sayegh [5] presented risk assessment and allocation problem, Han et al. [12] described web-based integrated system, Gao [9] presented strategies with the risk adjustment.

6. EPCCM risk assessment a proactive approach

Different approaches could be adopted to help assess data related to contractual risks. Contract conditions are interpreted by both parties to help enhance project aspects especially quality and time and diminishing pre-expected obstacles to reduce arising difficulties or claims. Choose the terms of contract logically, depending upon the nature of the work, its certainty, its urgency, the motivation of all parties and other factors such as the relationship between conditions implied and manageable events.

Fig. 4 presents EPCCM implemented methodology including risk information assessment in terms of contract conditions and contractual risks confronted to assist in building knowledge based identification within the framework of Turnkey projects.

6.1. Risk as basis for initiating FIDIC contracts

Main objective is to implement solutions for pre-identified risks as well as those occurring within the project execution, Table 1 EPC contract assessment relational to break down structure of identified risks.

Risk	Breakdown Struc	ture (RBS)		Zan
Report EPCCI ECON	Description: M OMICAL - POLITICAL -	CONSTRUCTION - CON	TRACTUAL - MANAGEME	
E	ENGINEER	Economical Risk	Inflation	Material Labor Equipment
			Energy Shortage Financial Uncertainty	Owner Contractor
			Currency Fluctuation	Designer
Р	PROCURE	Political Risk	Environmental	Air Noise Water
			Public Disorder	Demonstration War
			Governmental Acts and Regulations	Tax Changes Permits
C	CONSTRUCT	Construction Risk	Uncertainty in Labor	Availability Skills
C			Uncertainty in Equipment	Break Down Availability
			Uncertainty in Material	Storage Availability Protection
			Delayed Site Access	Title Permits
			Quantity Variation	Permits
			Defective Construction	
С	CONTRACT	Contractual Risk	Payment Failure	Owner Contractor
			Delay Disputes	
			Coordination Failure	Owner Contractor
			Change Orders	Delays Design Changes
			Labor Disputes	
Μ	MANAGEMENT	Management Risk	Productivity	Labor Equipment
			Quality Control	
			Safety	
			Mistakes	
			Management Competence	
			Variation in Quality	

Note: Analysis for potential risks a project is exposed to under FIDIC EPC Contract Conditions. Reference for project team as a starting point for risk identification and analysis.

putting in consideration FIDIC EPC clauses implication upon parties involved in the contract (employer/contractor).

6.2. Risk allocation by contract clauses

Risk allocation among events of predefined risk break down structure EPCCM RBS in alliance with clauses implication including responsible cause and actor for response mitigation plans, potential qualitative measurement are then assigned and update according to the confirmed risk management plan. Before the contract is awarded, owners already allocate project risks through contract clauses in projects. Contractors are typically unable to influence the contract conditions and clauses. For this reason, it is indispensable for the contractors to understand which risks they should undertake [6].



Figure 5 Procedural steps to produce status reports, by authors.

In Fig. 4, five major categories are stated to organize the types of risks, to discuss how these risks are managed by the contractors in each risk category and how risk allocation between owner and contractor are handled by contract clauses.

However, there are often different interpretations of risk allocation between owners and contractors. According to Wang and Chou [33], disagreements may result from the absence of related contract clauses, unclear stipulations, or queries about the fairness of risk allocation.

6.3. Risk allocation by risk events triggered

Furthermore, the previously mentioned RBS, Table 1, is used in the research as typical identified risks a project contract should consider when exposed under FIDIC EPC contract conditions as reference for project team as a starting point for risk identification and analysis. For example, a labor shortage would be a risk issue, with a potential effect or consequence of project delay. Since project delay is an effect that can result from one or more risk issues, it does not appear in



Figure 6 Risk allocation processes, by authors.

the risk issue hierarchy. For example, labor shortage is dependent not only on the uniqueness of the project, but on the general economic situation in the region where the project is being built, [23].

6.4. EPCCM risk analytical outputs

Successfully identify, plan, and manage allocated risks within construction projects contracts, involving the value of systematic risk management of project activity providing explicit assessment per contract clause. Abduction points highlighted for application setup introduced for system structure; major benefits derived in analytical outputs considered to be:

- Continuous review and update starting project initiation and contract set-up.
- Tracing for events triggered throughout project life cycle.
- Monitoring for response generated proposed by managerial agents.
- Storing lessons learned per project for post construction handling.
- Flexible manageability for contract terms alterative conditions parameter modification.

• Contract formatting updates enhancing performance and completion criteria.

7. Potential contract risk analytical description

7.1. EPCCM risk break down structure

The user selects factors related to a given project from the list. Each of the general factors is further divided into sub-elements which provide the user with added detail. After identifying the uncertainty factors, the expert system goes onto ask questions about risk policy, and so on.

EPCCM_RBS in Table 1 presents the breakdown structure of an expert system inference net leveled for construction risk management, as previously referred to in Section 6.3.

7.2. EPC Contract Risk Management Plan (EPCCM_RMP)

EPCCM management performance and project success, and normally includes the preparation of a specific project contract – risk management plan. The RMP describes how risk management will be structured and performed on the project Contract clauses. It becomes a subset of the contract management plan. Reference is made for inductive risk assessment methods as previously described in Section 6.4, to determine the appropriate level of detailed risk analysis to be performed on the project. The research provides a complete assessment for expected risks to be management within the EPCCM risk registers RMP *Risk Management Plan* a format of which is reproduced through modeling project risks; (Table 2). The RMP comprises four main sections of risk assessment: (1) risk identification; (2) risk response strategy; (3) risk analysis (qualitative); and (4) risk monitoring and control.

7.2.1. Risk identification

It determines which risk might affect the project and documents their characteristics, as an iterative process because new risks may become known as the project progresses thought its life [16]. The frequency of iterations and who participates in each cycle will vary from case to case. The project team is involved in this process to develop and maintain a sense of ownership of, and responsibility for, risks and associated risk response strategy.

7.2.2. Risk response strategy

It is a process that allows for developing options and determining actions to be taken to enhance opportunities and reduce threats to the projects objectives. Planned risk responses must be appropriate to the significance of the risk, cost effective, timely, and realistic within the project context, agreed upon by all parties involved, and owned by a responsible person. The project manager and team agree upon the appropriate actions implemented for each risk. It also involves: Choosing alternative response strategies, implementing a contingency plan, taking corrective actions, re-planning the project.

7.2.3. Risk analysis

Qualitative risk analysis is performed implying risk actual status and relevant degree of severity impact on project events Insert any comments that would be helpful for risk tracking and



Figure 7 EPCCM model graph dependencies (*Research Model*).

control. If an unanticipated risk emerges, or a risk's impact is greater than expected, the planned response strategy and actions may not be adequate. The project manager and the project team must perform additional response strategies and actions to control the risk.

7.2.4. Risk monitoring and control

User is enabled in the process to track identified risks, to monitor residual risks, and to identify new risks, ensuring the execution of risk plans, and evaluating their effectiveness in reducing risk. Risk monitoring and control is an ongoing process for the life of the project.

8. EPCCM model description

The EPCCM_RMP serves as a contract risk measurement tool where the nominated user assigned to each risk reports periodically to the project manager on the effectiveness of the plan, any unanticipated effects, and any mid-course correction that the project team must take to mitigate the risk. This helps monitoring and updating status for residual risks relevant to different projects phases.

8.1. Modeling and quality advantage

One of the benefits of using computer modeling techniques is that it enhances quality of management because it enhances communication between project parties as well as efficiency of data storage and retrieval; this becomes more obvious because modeling raises abstraction to a level where only the core essentials matter. The resultant advantage is twofold: easier understanding of the reality that exists and efficient creation of a new reality [30].

The advantage of modeling in understanding complexity is derived from the fact that models distill reality. Elements that are not significant in understanding the reality are dropped. This holds true for modeling in many industries such as construction projects [2].



Figure 8a EPCCM schematic activity processes relational diagram (Research Model).

ţ.	Contract	٨			F	RiskEXPOSURE				
9	ContractID				8	EXPOSUREID				
	RiskID					ContractID				
	RefNo		Contract_Ris	kEXPOSURE	-00	RiskOwner				
	Description		Č			RiskTrigger				
	Implication									
	TitleID	_			8	RiskEXPOSURETa	bleAdapter			
1	ContractTableAdapter				SQL	Fill, GetData ()				
SQL	Fill,GetData ()				- 1		8	_		
					1		L		RiskEXPOSURE_ResponseT	-
				RiskEXPOSU	RE_Ris	IDENTIFICATIO				
	PLAUDENTE				8		_			8
	KISKIDEN III.	ICAI		RiskIDENTI	FICATI	ON			🌆 ResponseT	\$
			9	RiskID					ResponseID	
_	8	_		RiskCategory					EXPOSUREID	
Ľ.	TblTitel (RiskEvent					Actor	
9	TiteIID			TiteIID					Action	
	TitelDesc			Exp_ID					RefNo	
19	TblTitelTableAdapter	$\overline{\mathbb{A}}$	10	RiskIDENTI	ICATI	ONTableAdapter			Description	
1	Fill,GetData ()		SQL	Fill,GetData ()				擾 ResponseTTableAdapter	Â
જ્ય										

Figure 8b Communication between contract clauses/risk identification modules (Research Model).

8.2. EPCCM standard tools

Application is created under the environment of Microsoft windows XP, Vista, 7 or higher, by the use of the following tools:

- a. Basic tool consistent on data base management tool created using Microsoft SQL server 2008 or higher in addition to Dot Net frame work version 3.0 or higher.
- b. Crystal report runtime 2008, for the purpose of generating editable data reports and updates.
- c. In addition to the above types of projects, UML is being used providing integration between application modules

The great value of data retrieval and updates as well as their complexity justify the effort towards the automation of utilizing logical induction and set theory approaches for the

Selection	Proje	Project ID: 100 Change Project Tide: Contract Clause Ref 1 - Centers Providers								PROJECT RISK	OutPut			
	De	fine Project Ri	iks.								CONTRACT CO	NDITION ASS	ESSMENT (CCRA)	Reports
Define Project	•	CONTRACT C	ONDITION ASS	ESSMENT (174)			RISK	EXPOSURE ANAL	YSIS (1)		Plan - B		3	module
Risks	0	lause No: 5	1	Description: 0	General Design Obligat	tions	 Risk Or 	mer: Contracto	x	-	RISK ANALYS	IS SUMMARY	(RAS)	
fuer	Ĺn	nplication: t	he Obligations t	ne Employer's Require	ments (including desi	on criterie and	cak 🔻 Risk Tr	gger: The Cont	ractor shall b	e deemed to have 💌	Plan - C		6	
пош											RISK EXPOSU	RE ANALYSIS	(RISKO)	
EPC Contract		Dick Colory	Managem	- 10	RISK RESPONSE (1	i)					Plan - D		(and	
clauses		NSK Calego	ry. Adiagoli	51L •	Actor: Employer		•	Ref da	asue No:	-	RISK STATUS	5 MONITORING	s (RSM)	
assessment		Risk Ev	ent: Competen	0e 🔻	Action: Employer sh	al be responsi	ble for the correctr	e: 👻 Descrip	otion:	-	Plan - E		3	
Insert Events											<u> </u>			Exportin
					Insert Int	o Project Even	ts			۴	Excel	💈 Refresh		uata mes
	Proje	ect Risks						_	_					+·-
		RiskID	ProjectID	RiskCategory	RiskEvent	Reflio	Description	Probability	Impact	Implication		RiskOwner	RiskTrigger *	Providin
Project Risks detailed		1	100	Management	Management Competence	1.2	Interpretation	LOW	NOW	 context requirements 	8	Contractor / Employer	The marginal i not be taken i interpretation	Risk Star register
review		2	100	Management	Management Competence	3.5	Determinations	HI -	MOD	• event or circumstance	s arising daim	Contractor	Causing defec in accordance	clicking
Editing		8	100	Economical Risk	Inflation	10.1	Taking Over of the Works and Sections	NOW	н	 the Works shall be tak Employer when the W completed in accordan Contract, 	en over by the orks have been noe with the	Contractor	The Contracte Employer for : carlier than 1:	
special terms		11	100	Construction Risk	Deffective Construction	1.1	Defnitions	NOW	H	words and expression meanings stated.	s shall have the	Contractor / Employer	In the Conditi indicating pers corporations a where the cor	Priority Impact
	•	12	100	Management Røk	Management Conpetence	5.1	General Desgn Obligations	HE . NLOW LOW	VHI	 the Obligations the Er Requirements (includin and calculations, if an 	npioyer's ng design criteria y),	Contractor	The Contracts sorutinized, pr	criteria measure
		1						MOD		as ner Contract or acr	ording to Employer			1

Figure 9 EPCCM main console description added for modules handling (Research Model).

File Réports Windows Help Logon/Logout	
Projects Risk Events Management	
] ²⁷ Risk Events Preview 4 5 of 5 ▶ + ★ a ⇒ Print +	
New / Update - Projects Events	
Project Project June 200	
Identification (RBS) Project little: Valor Construction Project (0.24.500) Start Date: May 25, 2012	
Contract Clause Project Manager: Contract Administrator Duration: 6 months	
Risk Exposure Analysis Proponent Agency: Construction Date Control No:	
RISK RESPONSE PROJECT RISK OPTIMISED DATUMN (PROD) CONTRACT CONDITION ASSESSMENT (CCRA)	
Natinage Osets Parton Duffuilt 1. Risk Idnetification Process - Describe the process for risk identification.	
Communicating Risk Events (Registers, Site updates, CA notifications)	
2. Did Durk also and Distribution. Describe how other and activities of	
 Nas evaluation and monitoration - Describe now insis are evaluated an prioritized. Pre-Scheduled meeting to review Contractual Risk Revisitors, in parallel to overall project activities 	_
 Risk Mitigation Options -Describe, in general terms, the risk mitigation options. 	_
Action plans activities monitoring	
4. Risk Plan Maintenance -Describe the methods for maintaining or updating the risk plan.	
Update Registers as per site actual status and schedule for construction	
 Risk Management Responsibilities -Identify individuals with specified risk management responsibilities. 	
Individual Responsibility	
CA Contract Administratot Register and Maintain Updates	
CM Construction MAnager Insure Updated data from site	
CA Contract Administrator Action Plan Monitoring	
😭 admin-DC 📴 admin 🗏 🔒 Admin	

Figure 10 Creating new project related ID, name and datum further imported to report A (Research Model).



Figure 11 Interface for assessing contract clauses in term of analyzing risk: exposure, identification and response (Research Model).



Figure 12 Risk exposure analysis, risk response (Research Model).

generation of risk mitigation plans per event triggered at any stage of project life cycle.

8.3. Analogy for EPCCM model guidance

EPCCM model for risk management application constructed in order to evaluate and assess risks emerging throughout Turnkey projects life cycle. Inductive logical procedures, as shown in Fig. 5, the three main steps utilized for utilizing logical induction support system in assessing contractual risk.

8.4. Master data modules

Contract risk assessment guides the project team in reviewing the project work plan (and any other project plan elements) to determine the probability and impact of potential adverse events on project.

EPCCM System - [frmRiskInput]	elo Lo	aop/l ogoi		COLUMN TWO IS		Contraction of					
Projects Risk Events Management Risk Events Preview New / Update Risk Events Preview	Categ Select Categ	ory constr on or more ory , Event,	uction Even of filter parameter to Owner and Actor	t Delays apply filter for	Owner	Contractor Actor c	iontractor App	oly Filter E	Instory		
Print Screen		RiskID	RiskCategory	RiskEvent	RefNo	Description	Implication	RiskOwner	RiskTrigger	Actor	Action
🖬 Egit		29	Management	quality control	5.2	Contractor's Documents	The Contractor shall prepare all technical documents as per Employer requirements to satisfy all regulatory approvals	Employer	Documents review period shall not exceed 21 days, from the date received	Contractor	execution of the not commence p expiry of the re for all the Contr Documents which relevant to its d execution;
		31	Contractual	Design Changes/ change orders	5.4	Technical Standards and Regulations	References in the Contract to published standards to the edition applicable on the Base Date, unless stated otherwise.	Contractor			
		33	construction	Uncertainty in Labor	6.5	Working Hours	No work shall be carried out on the Site on locally recognised days of rest, or outside normal working hours,	Contractor	the work is unavoidable, or necessary for the protection of life or property or for the safety of the Works, in which case the Contractor shall immediately advise the Employer.	Employer	the Employer gi or otherwise sta Contract,
		34	construction	Uncertainty in Labor	6.10	Records of Contractor's Personnel and Equipment	the number of each class of Contractor's Personnel and of each type of Contractor's Equipment on the Site.	Contractor	The Contractor shall submit, to the Employer, details	Contractor	Details shall be each calendar n form approved i Employer,
	,	35	construction	Delays	8.1	Commencement of Works	Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Agreement. The Commencement Date shall be within 42 days after the date on which the Contract comes into full force and effect	Employer	the Employer shall give the Contractor not less than 7 days' notice of the Commencement Date	Contractor	The Contractor commence the of execution of this soon as is reaso practicable after Commencement shall then proce Works with due and without del
		36	Political	Regulations	8.5	Delays caused by authorities	the Contractor has dilgently followed the procedures laid down by the relevant legally constituted public authorities in the Country,	others	authorities delay or disrupt the Contractor's work, and the delay or disruption was not reasonably foreseeable by an experienced Contractor by the date for submission of the Tender	Contractor	then this delay will be considere of delay
	د 💽	n-PC 🏨 ad	Imin 🔠 🔒 Admir	n	m				🐌 01:46:58 PM 📠 07 M	Лау, 2012 ЕРС	CM2012-04-23-0:

Figure 13 Filtration and tracing for detailed risks triggered and actions response as part of mitigation plan (Research Model).

This modeling system provide the user in reference to his integrity (owner/contractor) a detailed risk assessment for contractual clauses throughout project life cycle regarding considered event impact and equivalent mitigation responses as well as a qualitative overview updated status, Fig. 6.

9. Model graph dependencies

While advances have been made in defining the information that should be contained within a risk register, and in implementing a register as a computer tool, the development of a richer set of attributes that can be modeled in the risk data adapters, and the incorporation of search and navigation technologies and reporting mechanisms that can make the contents of the register more accessible can also be considered as desirable improvements (Fig. 7).

9.2. EPCCM internal dependencies

As the project progresses the project team would update the register with response measures that were adopted, the risks that were realized during the project and their impact on project performance measures, additional risks that might have been identified and so forth. At the end of the project, the information in the register would serve as a means to augment the organization's risk issue library knowledge base.

9.3. EPCCM external dependencies

The project risk reports for implemented contract risk plans prove to be the most tangible part of the system, where actual data is extracted from previously analyzed events. Output for the risk assessment function, providing information on risks, their time windows, methods of incorporating risks into the further analysis, and appropriate response measures including details for crystal reports engine integrated within the application modules and allowing for producing updated reports.

10. Quality of EPCCM activity diagrams

Activity diagrams have their origins in the state chart diagrams, consequently in UML as per the following scheme Data view 2.0 they are considered quite independent of their origins [8].

As seen in the procedural activity diagram in Fig. 8a, showing the flow of activities, making them ideal to EPCCM Schematic Modeling processes.

Projects: Module contains classes to allow for multi projects storing initial data such as title and duration datum for closure date as well as other required data to be stored and reported in report A.

Project assessment: contains data retrieved per each event triggered to be stored as per ProjectassessmentID class level identified to provide further integration to events captured and required actions to be monitored and updated.

ProjectRisk: Include classes for assigned data per each triggered event such as RiskID related to triggered risk categories and events, data required to allow for assigning action response filtered in event tracing module.

Sample module design is described in the next graph (Fig. 8b) is presented the communication level established between contract class stored master data selection for assessed terms conditions and the relevant RiskExposure event derived from RBS tables Stacked including classes for differentiating between different levels for rbs_Category, rbs_Event.

Table 3	EPCCM generated output reports.		
Report A	Project Risk Optimized Datum	PROD	Datum for project initiation and risk management strategy
Report B	Contract Condition Risk Analysis	CCRA	Risk management plan and responsible actors
Report C	Risk Events Report	RER	Cumulative analysis for risk categories/events
Report D	Risk Response Summary	RRS	Trace required response action as part of mitigation plan
Report E	Risk Status Monitoring	RSM	Qualitative-risk analysis for probability and impact

(Research Model).



Figure 14 Report C, derived analysis for risks categories occurrence and severity impact (Research Model).



Figure 15 Report D details for risk events identified with relation action response required (Research Model).



Figure 16a Qualitative risk analysis defining severity and occurrence impact per risk ID (Research Model).

11. EPCCM package graphical user interface

Application tool developed to support risk assessment for EPC contracts, consists of a multi console Graphical User Interface GUI, to support the pre-described model and cover different aspects of the processes involved. GUI is integrated with data base system and allowing for a back and forth interaction in order to display multi project data presentations.

System admin is allowed seamlessly to access all master data modules as well as editing parameters and criteria introducing flexibility to model design, and customizing data per each project under study.

Main application modules accessed by admin as follows:

The administrator for EPCCM package has the authority to either start new project or proceed with update, review and edit previously available projects, used for EPPCM Users to review available projects and related reports as per stated in reporting and analysis section, access permission is denied to other main data files for model parameters and stored projects data files.

11.1. Risk event manager interface

This interface showed in Fig. 9, provides the integral view of different modules of EPCCM allowing interaction and swift access for other modules related to *Master Data Standard Review* in Fig. 10, each module interface is allowed to be viewed, edited, and printed separately through file drop down menu for any new updated fields.

11.2. Case study

Through the EPCCM administrative interface for creating new project "Major Construction Project_MCP 500" a set of triggered events and respectively action plans to fulfill required actions on timely manner, in order to mitigate impact on project delayed start, as per site conditions and required documentation.

Filtration for required risk categories to be tracked, as per Fig. 10, is used to clarify any required response to be initiated by the contractor CM Construction Manager, or considered from CA Contract Administrator, point of view to be fulfilled by owner, the other active contract party.

11.2.1. Demonstration

Thus, the aim of this research is to examine how risk factors are shared between different parties in EPC conditions contract, investigate how the risk management strategy of contractor change with respect to different contract conditions.

Finally, throughout the project and during project closure, EPCCM Application risk-related lessons are reviewed in order to contribute to organizational learning and support continuous improvement of project contract risk management practice.

Minimize project site condition risk exposure, assure project completion with no delays, secure project budget.

11.2.2. Tracking and monitoring

With respect to entries on the project risk register side, related exposure to contractor risks managed by Construction Manager CM, considered as user to keep close eye on ACTUAL Project risks.

Contract Administrator CA, Considered as system administrator in research case; additional data will be provided by project team.

Step 1. Project creation.

Save project data DATUM for risk management protocol, corresponding to specific project.

Step 2. Risk events criteria.

In research case study most influencing risk events have been selected to check and validate system modules where integrity of each caused event will have direct influence on





Figure 16b Detailed qualitative risk analysis defining project event analysis in addition to mitigation responsive actions (*Research Model*).

No Control Control No No No Control Control No No No No Control Control No No No No No Control No No No No No No No No No No No No No <td< th=""><th>6 - 5564 and Lako C 0 - C 0 -</th><th>transcenario transcenario transcenario transcenario</th></td<>	6 - 5564 and Lako C 0 - C 0 -	transcenario transcenario transcenario transcenario
No Cluster Description Description <thdescription< th=""> <thdescrin< th=""> <thdescrin< th=""></thdescrin<></thdescrin<></thdescription<>	6 - 15M and Labo Commencement, Commencement, Gargerations	themeters the model the mo
A Control of Contro of Control of Control of Control of Control of Control of Contr	6 - Sah knot Jabo 6 - Sah knot Jabo 6 - Comment- Diagon and Diagon and Diagon and	mencement, ere and permitore
No Cleaner Take Cleaner Dissriptions 1 - Cleaners Price and Price and	6 - Stef and Late 8 - Stef and Late 1 - Stefan and 5 - Stef	mencement, systemd
10 Classer Description Description Physical Phys		- 0 0 0 0
	[Contract Agreement	(Edension of Time for Completion),
Cleara Rail	Sub-Claume 1.6	Sub-Claume 8.4 (b)
Dute of listuance but of listuance strong is the thread of the strong language strong is the Contractivity dramps in theread are governed to the strong language thread are contractivity and and and and and the Contractivity and and the bar and and a bar contractivity and and and and and and and and apply. The Contractivity and and and and and and and and apply and and and and and and and and and apply and and and and and and and and and apply and and and and and and and and and apply and and and and and and and and and apply and	Dealer are the stormalized each coloreds month, in a form approved by the Employee. The Construction of the Windows Dealer and constrained the Windows work and the area provided and the Windows Michael this and expedition and without dealy.	then this delay or climitation will be considered as a cause of delay
diter consecto integradore consecto consec	ontractor ontractor	orthector
Filtered Actions (if cust) Respect of the Contend has been written in one of the Contend has been written in one of the Contend has been written in one of the Contend has been written in the contend has been written writt	The Contractor wall submit to the Employer, or debut the Employer shall give the Contractor roll also then? days order of the Contractorment Data	authorities along or clearupt the Contractur's word, C and the second or clearuption and the second of the for authorities of the Tender date for authorities of the Tender
the Commer Contractur / Jurgicipae Contractur Contractur Contractur Contractur Contractur Contractur Contractur Contractur Contractur	contractor implicipae	them
EPCCM Risk EventsRegister Projection The Contribut Amalian generated by the land the outby product and the generated by the land the device of contribut and the generated by the Contribut Amalian generated by the Methods Contribution and the the Methods Contribution and the Methods Contribution and the Methods of the Methods o	Par number of each chain of two of Contraction In Contraction and of wards they of Contraction's Contraction of the Same Same Contraction Different contraction and the Contraction server of the Same Same Same Same Same Same Contract contrast in the Same and while a Contract contrast in the Same and while	the Contractor that digentity followed the proceedance and digentity followed the proceedance and cover by the research signify conditioned public wathorfsee in the Country,
	n •	n
ана и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и и	г п	N
Description Law and Language Law and Language Law and Language Language Americanish Discussion Contractor's Documents Fooders Description Contractor's Documents Contractor's Documents Contractor's Documents Contractor's Documents Contractor's Documents Contractor's Documents	Reached of Contractor's Explorment Commencement of Mortis	Delay raused by subother
	2 2	9
NKT 500 KT 500 RakEvent RakEvent Reacher Uncerbirtis Verschirtis Uncerbirtis und of beig Uncerbirtis Comparent Compa	Uncertainty Labor Debrys	Regulations
title for Constrate Contration Contration Contration Contration Management Management Management Contration	construction construction	a Mo Mo Mo
	8 8	8
	8 9	я

 Table 2
 Extracted data exported to excel format (*Research Model*).

total project completion and quality for execution, further reports and contingency plans of actions could be considered. At start of project, mainly concerning contractual arrangements, site access, advance payments and performance security, start adding risk events relevant to contract conditions, displayed from

- Master data review clauses/risk events in accordance with the coordinated assessment respectively.
- Risk identification: risk category/risk events; in relevance with EPCCM risk breakdown structure analysis.
- Contract condition assessment; reference is made to clauses/description/implication/included in master plan.
- Risk exposure analysis: risk owner (employer/contractor/or both)/Risk events triggered per clauses interpretation.
- Risk response: action/actor (employer/contractor/or both) tracing relevant in risk event.

Shifting between projects IDs allow to add new risk events or update existing risk parameters such as actual status, probability of occurrence, degree of severity impact, in order to allow for Updating and/or reviewing existing project data assessment (see Fig. 11).

11.2.3. Proactive data handling

Step 1. Analyzed implications related to project terms of contract are prescribed in order to extract respective responsibilities between contract parties (employer/owner), accordingly the cause for risk event triggered is highlighted through a definite risk exposure versus response actions to eliminate, mitigate impacts (Fig. 12). *Step 2.* Risk events preview

Another induced data assessment presentation is allowed through the event preview screen.

Data is filtered by selecting field and relevant events category to be analyzed, this filter application allows for tracking preventive actions and checking for suitable mitigation clauses.

By double click on four columns we can find filter tool to apply by one or more of these four fields (category–event–owner–actor); resulting events triggered are displayed by the *Risk Event Preview* interface allowing for further analysis by selecting filtered data according to parameters selected by risk owner or response actors in relation to category of risk events allocated, racing details for actions required as response mitigation plan is permissible by selecting event in Fig. 13.

Extracted data exported to excel format as per the following risk register addresses various aspects of contract risk assessment such as:

- Contract clause reference and description.
- Related triggered events.
- Required response actions.
- Impact levels, in terms of probability of occurrence and severity degree.
- Responsible actors and date of update.

RMP project contractual risk register, the continuous monitoring and updates permits the visibility of contractual terms as well as responsive actions taken under mitigation purposes.

11.3. Reports module

Project participants most suited to manage the risk identifies the party or parties who are best able to control the risk. For our soil investigation example, one could take the position that no party is able to control the risk, and it simply has to be passed onto the owner, fully documented. Finally, the opportunity exists to include previous experience that has been particularly effective in identifying, and judging and managing the risk issue. EPCCM generates, reports cited in Table 3.

11.3.1. Examples for reports

Mostly used figure representing report C demonstrating summary for events occurring, allowing for tracing and updating confronted risks in contractual project environment changes fundamentally the basis of managing in addition to lessons learned impact this could have upon the future development of the organization works.

It is important then to reassess the project and relatively study its allocation of risk defined under EPC standard forms of contract, decisions will be taken in reference to stored data and updated reports for risk management as per referenced reports in Figs. 14 and 15.

11.4. Qualitative risk analysis

Conducting a combined qualitative-risk analysis to determine if the allocated risks to the project start.

EPCCM includes methods for prioritizing the identified risks for further action, such as quantitative risk analysis or risk response planning. Qualitative risk analysis assesses the priority of risks by using their probability of occurrence, corresponding impact on project objectives if the risks do occur, as well as other factors such as the time frame and risk tolerance of the project constraints of scope, schedule, budget, and quality, result presented in Figs. 16a and b.

11.5. EPCCM system validation and verification

In order to allow for system verification a project prototype is created to demonstrate different modules efficiency and relational outputs. Steps are described in parallel to analysis for selected events under study.

In performing risk analysis of a project, we are interested in predicting the consequences of a risk issue on project performance, and where it is significant, on developing risk mitigation measures.

Risk mitigation deals with how best to manage a risk using strategies such as redesign, alternative processes (procurement, construction, etc.), insurance, contingency allowances, contractual language, and so forth. By linking risk issues through to project performance measures, including consideration of the project context, it is possible to assess the importance of a risk issue, and judge the efficacy of various risk mitigation measures.

12. Conclusion

Major Risk issues related to contract administration environment is explained as well as the risks allocated to contracting parties through contract conditions. Necessary steps to successfully manage the contractual elements of a construction contract. Types of contracts and relationships between contracting parties are explored, a brief application is produced with general information about the FIDIC and Egyptian design and build contracts are given, followed by risk allocation schemes in contracts are explored so that risks can be managed successfully.

Hypothesis 1. Standardized set of the risk events specified within EPCCM RBS Risk Breakdown Structure assessed through contract clauses. Developed risk categories will reflect issues that occur across the entire project life cycle.

Accordingly it is implemented within the proposed model, ECPCM risk model is presented with registers enhancing contract parties responsibilities and suggestions for mitigation of uprising events as well as contract terms conditions implications on contract parties.

Hypothesis 2. A Risk Management tool is created that will allow for these risks to be identified and assessed in a proactive manner. Presentation of the EPCCM application including system verification, findings and recommendations regarding the ECPCM risk management model will be presented.

Hypothesis 3. The risk issues that become part of the management tool can be evaluated in terms of potential quality factors describing their impact and probability of occurrence As a result, their relative importance to one another can be determined.

Finally conclusion and discussion points are highlighted description of risk management standard, indicating various tools and techniques applied widely for assessing risks, hence justification for system selected EPCCM, In terms of achieving an explicit approach for contract risk management, the presented research allows project participants to prioritize their response and develop mitigation strategies that will enhance overall project performance. In short, projects that use the structured risk assessment process will have a better chance of meeting financial, schedule, and other stakeholder expectations.

References

- D. Baloi, A. Price, Modeling global risk factors affecting construction cost performance, International Journal of Project Management 21 (5) (2003) 261–269.
- [2] Bhuvan Unhelkar, Verification and Validation for Quality of UML 20 Models, A Wiley-Interscience, New Jersey, 2005, ISBN 0-471-72783-0.
- [3] C. Branconi, C. Loch, Contracting for major projects: eight business levers for top management, International Journal of Project Management 22 (1) (2004) 119–130.
- [4] I. Dikmen, M.T. Birgonul, C. Anac, J.H.M. Tah, G. Aouad, Learning from risks: a tool for post-project risk assessment, Automation in Construction 18 (1) (2008) 42–50.
- [5] S.M. El-Sayegh, Risk assessment and allocation in the UAE construction industry, International Journal of Project Management 26 (4) (2008) 431–438.
- [6] Ergun Usta, Comparison of International Federation of Consulting Engineers and General Specification for Public Works Contracts from Risk Management Perspective, M.Sc. of Civil Engineering Dept., 2005.

- [7] E.R. Fisk, Construction Project Administration, seventh ed., Prentice Hall Upper Saddle River, New Jersey Columbus, OH, 2003.
- [8] M. Fowler, Patterns of Enterprise Application Architecture, Addison-Wesley Professional, Reading, MA, 2003.
- [9] P.W. Gao, Options strategies with the risk adjustment, European Journal of Operational Research 192 (3) (2009) 975–980.
- [10] G. Gibson, J. Walewski, G. Dudley, Life-cycle considerations to optimize risk assessment and management for international projects, Publication and Presentation at the ASCE Construction Research Congress, Hawaii, 2003.
- [11] Guy M. Merritt, Preston G. Smith, Field Guide to Project Management, second ed., John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2004, p. 202.
- [12] S.H. Han, D.Y. Kim, H. Kim, W.S. Jang, A web-based integrated system for international project risk management, Automation in Construction 17 (3) (2008) 342–356.
- [13] A.A.G. Hassanein, H.M.F. Afify, A risk identification procedure for construction contracts – a case study of power station projects in egypt, Civil Engineering and Environmental Systems 24 (1) (2007) 3–14.
- [14] S. Isaac, R. Navon, Modeling building projects as a basis for change control, Automation in Construction 18 (5) (2009) 656– 664.
- [15] J.H.M. Tah, V. Carr, Towards a framework for project risk knowledge management in the construction supply chain, Advances in Engineering Software (2001) (Project Systems Engineering Research Unit, School of Construction, South Bank University).
- [16] R. Kangari, L.T. Boyer, Knowledge based systems and fuzzy sets in risk management, Microcomputers in Civil Engineering 2 (1989) 273–278.
- [17] Y. Li, X. Liao, Decision support for risk analysis on dynamic alliance, Decision Support Systems 42 (4) (2007) 2043–2059.
- [19] Nora M. El-Gohary, A.M. ASCE1, Tamer E. El-Diraby2, Merging Architectural, Engineering, and Construction Ontologism, Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering 25 (2) (2011) 109–128.
- [20] B.A.K.S. Perera, I. Dhanasinghe, R. Rameezdeen, Risk management in road construction: the case of Sri Lanka, International Journal of Strategic Property Management 13 (2) (2009) 87–102.
- [21] Raimar J. Scherer, Wael Sharmak, Generic process template description for the effect of risks on project schedule, in: CIB W78 International Conference on Information Technology in Construction, Santiago, Chile, 2008.
- [22] A.V. Rutkauskas, On the sustainability of regional competitiveness development considering risk, Technological and Economic Development of Economy 14 (1) (2008) 89–99.
- [23] Sanjaya De Zoysa, Alan D. Russell, structuring of risk information to assist in knowledge-based identification of the life cycle risks of civil engineering projects, in: 5th Construction Specialty Conference of the Canadian Society for Civil Engineering, Department of Civil Engineering, University of British Columbia, Moncton, Nouveau-Brunswick, Canada, 2003.
- [24] V. Sarka, E.K. Zavadskas, L. Ustinovicius, E. Sarkiene, C. Ignatavicius, System of project multicriteria decision synthesis in construction, Technological and Economic Development of Economy 14 (4) (2008) 546–565.
- [25] Seon-Gyoo Kim, Risk performance indexes and measurement systems for mega construction projects, Journal of Civil Engineering and Management 16 (4) (2010) 586–594.
- [26] M. Schieg, Model for integrated project management, Journal of Business Economics and Management 10 (2) (2009) 149–160.
- [27] G. Shevchenko, L. Ustinovichius, A. Andruskevicius, Multiattribute analysis of investments risk alternatives in construction, Technological and Economic Development of Economy 14 (3) (2008) 428–443.

- [28] A. Taroun, J.B. Yang, D. Lowe, Construction risk modeling and assessment: insights from a literature review, The Built and Human Environment Review 4 (Special Issue 1) (2011).
- [29] H.P. Tserng, S.Y.L. Yin, R.J. Dzeng, B. Wou, M.D. Tsai, W.Y. Chen, A study of ontology-based risk management framework of construction projects through project life cycle, Automation in Construction 18 (7) (2009) 994–1008.
- [30] B. Unhelkar, After the Y2K Fireworks, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1999.
- [32] Walewski, John Alan, International Project Risk Assessment, Ph.D. The University of Texas at Austin, 2005.
- [33] M.T. Wang, H.Y. Chou, Risk allocation and risk handling of highway projects in Taiwan, Journal of Management in Engineering 19 (2) (2003) 155–187.
- [34] Wideman, R. Max, Project and Program Risk Management: A Guide to Manage Project Risks and Opportunities, The Project Management Institute PMI, 1992, ISBN 1-880410-00-1.
- [35] T. Zayed, M. Amer, J. Pan, Assessing risk and uncertainty inherent in Chinese highway projects using AHP, International Journal of Project Management 26 (4) (2008) 408–419.

- [36] E.K. Zavadskas, Z. Turskis, J. Tamosaitiene, Contractor selection of construction in a competitive environment, Journal of Business Economics and Management 9 (3) (2008) 181–187.
- [37] E.K. Zavadskas, T. Zenonas, T. Jolanta, Risk assessment of construction projects, Vilnius gediminas technical university, department of construction technology and management, Lithuania, Journal of Civil Engineering and Management 16 (1) (2010) 33–46.

Further readings

- [38] FIDIC Silver Book 1999 Edition Standard Form of Condition of Contract EPC/Turnkey Projects, 1999. ISBN 2-88432-021-0.
- [40] PMBOK Guide: A Guide to the Project Management Body of Knowledge, Project Management Institute, Pennsylvania, USA, 2004.
- [41] Practice Standard for Project Risk Management, Project Management Institute, Inc., 2009. ISBN: 978-1-933890-38-8.